ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Bamberg County

Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

MAR 21 2018

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

v.

HOMER ARTHUR JAMES,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2016-002046

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

DAVID ALEXANDER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Bamberg County

Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

HOMER ARTHUR JAMES,

APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether, in violation of the Fifth and Sixth Amendments, the trial court erred in admitting appellant's highly incriminating statements to police, given after a three-day chase through the woods in a field surrounded by heavily armed police officers, dogs, and a helicopter, where it was undisputed appellant never received Miranda¹ warnings, ruling his statements were supposedly not the product of interrogation but "casual conversation?"

¹ Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 (1966).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 20, 2014, a Bamberg County grand jury indicted appellant Homer Arthur James for armed robbery. R. 747. Appellant's case was called for trial on August 8, 2016, before the Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh and a jury. R. 1. David Miller, Bill Weeks, and Michael Emer represented the State. R. 1. Wallis Alves represented appellant. R. 1. The jury convicted appellant. R. 677, l. 16 – 678, l. 8. Pursuant to South Carolina's recidivist law, Judge McIntosh sentenced appellant to life imprisonment without the possibility of parole. R. 681, ll. 8 – 24. This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

In violation of the Fifth and Sixth Amendments, the trial court erred in admitting appellant's highly incriminating statements to police, given after a three-day chase through the woods in a field surrounded by heavily armed police officers, dogs, and a helicopter, where it was undisputed appellant never received *Miranda* warnings, ruling his statements were supposedly not the product of interrogation but "casual conversation."

As if reciting a mantra, a twelve-year veteran of law enforcement and SLED agent testified over and over again that appellant's incriminating statements were the result of "casual conversation." R. 18, l. 11 ("casual conversation"). R. 18, ll. 23 – 24 ("casual conversation"). R. 27, ll. 23 – 24 ("casual conversation"). R. 29, l. 21 ("casual conversation"). R. 30, l. 4 ("casual conversation"). R. 30, ll. 17 – 18. R. 33, l. 5 ("casual conversation"). R. 509, l. 10 ("casual conversation"). R. 509, l. 16 ("casual conversation"). R. 513, l. 11 ("casual conversation"). R. 521, l. 7 ("casual conversation"). R. 522, l. 2 ("casual conversation"). R. 525, l. 1 ("casual conversation"). Another sixteen-year veteran SLED agent denied asking any questions designed to elicit incriminating information. R. 50, ll. 1 – 3. R. 65, ll. 5 – 23. He testified he did not remember what comments by the nine officers during their "conversation" may have prompted appellant's statements. R. 65, ll. 21 – 25. R. 66, ll. 1 – 8. R. 69, ll. 6 – 8.

The officers seized appellant in a remote field after a three-day bloodhound and helicopter chase prompted by a bank robbery in Denmark, South Carolina. R. 545, l. 24 – 559, l. 8. On June 5, 2014, two masked men robbed the Enterprise Bank in Denmark with a BB gun. R. 168, l. 23 – 173, l. 17. R. 245, ll. 18 – 22. A concerned citizen passing by the bank saw men run into the bank from a "silver or grayish Grand Am." R. 159, ll. 5 – 17. She drove back to the bank. R. 160, ll. 9 – 18. The Grand Am was no longer there. R. 160, ll. 19 – 23. She waited.

R. 160, l. 24 – 161, l. 1. After a few minutes, the witness saw men running quickly from the bank. R. 161, ll. 2 – 7. She could not identify the men and never saw the driver of the Grand Am. R. 161, l. 19 – 162, l. 7.

The Olar Chief of Police heard a call on the radio to watch for a silver Pontiac Grand Am. R. 214, l. 17 – 215, l. 2. He saw a car matching the description and followed it. R. 215, ll. 10 – 22. The car ran a stop sign and the chief turned on his blue lights. R. 216, ll. 1 – 10. The Grand Am accelerated and the chief gave chase. R. 216, ll. 11 – 218, l. 7. The Grand Am crashed into some trees on a dead end road. R. 218, ll. 1 – 23. The chief saw a black male run into the woods from the rear passenger side door of the car. R. 218, ll. 15 – 23. He only saw one person flee. R. 228, ll. 18 – 19. The chief could not tell how many people were in the car. R. 221, ll. 14 – 17. He could not identify the person who fled. R. 229, ll. 23 – 25.

The police recovered currency from the bank and other items from the abandoned Grand Am, including several state-issued ID cards. R. 248, ll. 17 – 24. R. 244, l. 20 – 245, l. 17. R. 247, ll. 1 – 6. R. 247, ll. 15 – 21. One of the ID cards belong to appellant's codefendant, Leon James, who was not related to appellant. R. 245, ll. 14 – 17. R. 6, ll. 2 – 6. Another ID card, a North Carolina commercial driver's license, belonged to Darryl Lamont Lassiter. R. 246, ll. 1 – 6. Lassiter, who had an alibi for the robbery, testified that he mistakenly threw away his CDL with an old wallet at Bike Week in Myrtle Beach after buying a new wallet at Levi's. R. 436, l. 16 – 437, l. 9. The police also found appellant's ID card along with Lassiter's and Leon James' cards. R. 247, ll. 15 – 20. A DMV employee testified that appellant applied for a new ID card, submitting "an affidavit of lost or stolen or surrendered identification" a month before the robbery. R. 582, l. 15 – 588, l. 14. Also found in the car was a pair of panties SLED tested for DNA. R. 377, l. 8 – 380, l. 10. Using only 8/16 sites on the Y chromosome, the SLED expert

claimed the DNA matched appellant. R. 342, ll. 3 – 15. She opined the probability of the match was 1 / 3,800, which Judge McIntosh called “a mighty low number.” R. 355, ll. 12 – 20. R. 258, ll. 3 – 4.

The police used a bloodhound team to begin tracking the suspects from the abandoned vehicle car. R. 545, l. 24 – 546, l. 14. Because of bad weather and tired dogs, the police abandoned the search. R. 546, l. 15 – 548, l. 21. The next day, a police officer responded to a call about suspicious people. R. 296, ll. 5 – 20. He went to a mobile home near the Govan Fire Department, but found no one. R. 296, l. 25 – 298, l. 14. He left and stopped to speak to the firemen at the station. R. 298, ll. 19 – 25. The firemen told the police officer about a nearby vacant mobile home they used for training. R. 322, l. 4 – 323, l. 7.

The officer went to the “old mobile home” and shined his lights on the front door. R. 299, l. 8 – 300, l. 16. A man the officer identified as appellant walked out of the house. R. 300, l. 11 – 302, l. 2. The man was “flailing his arms” and told the police officer, “this is my house, I don’t have anything.” R. 301, ll. 2 – 6. The officer drew his gun. R. 301, ll. 7 – 9. The man ran. R. 301, ll. 7 – 9.

The dog team went to the trailer and picked up a track. R. 495, l. 23 – 496, l. 15. They captured co-defendant Leon James. R. 496, ll. 12 – 15. Then they captured co-defendant Lewis Garvin. R. 497, ll. 16 – 498, l. 2. After tracking through the woods all night, the police discovered appellant in a wooded area near a hayfield. R. 498, ll. 3 – 15. Appellant “just popped up” between members of the dog team. R. 558, ll. 1 – 6. He had on no shirt, was covered in dirt, and was soaking wet. R. 559, ll. 2 – 8. He needed water. R. 508, ll. 4 – 8. The police brought him out of the woods in handcuffs. R. 508, ll. 9 – 11.

Before trial, the court held a Denno² hearing. Pretrial Hearing Tr. 13, ll. 4 – 9. The State called only two of the potentially nine officers who were present for appellant’s alleged statements. R. 13, ll. 4 – 9. R. 486, ll. 3 – 8. During the Denno hearing, SLED agent Jeff Croft testified that there were “at least three” officers surrounding appellant when he made his statements. R. 27, ll. 6 – 8. However, during the middle of trial, the other SLED agent, Chip Steppe, remembered some photographs that were never produced to the defense. R. 441, l. 7 – 442, l. 16. Included in the pictures was a shot of the officers surrounding appellant in the field and, noting the contradiction of the testimony at the Denno hearing, defense counsel argued “there were a lot more than just four officers sitting around being casual.” R. 462, l. 21 – 463, l. 11. State’s Ex. 80. From looking at the picture, Agent Steppe admitted “at least eight or nine people” surrounded appellant. Tr. 398, ll. 3 – 20. When asked why he failed to mention all of these people’s presence during the Denno hearing, Agent Steppe replied, “I didn’t—I didn’t think it was necessary.” R. 486, ll. 19 – 21. Agent Steppe’s recently found footage also included a photograph of a shoeprint the State desperately sought to admit into evidence. R. 441, l. 7 – 489, l. 7.

At the Denno hearing, the police readily admitted they never gave appellant Miranda warnings. R. 17, ll. 9 – 11. The police admitted appellant was in custody. R. 17, ll. 7 – 8. But the police denied questioning appellant, instead repeatedly describing the interaction of the heavily armed police officers, dogs, and helicopter pilots with the dehydrated, shirtless appellant as “casual conversation.” R. 17, l. 21 – 19, l. 17. State’s Ex. 80.

Agent Steppe described how appellant made incriminating statements:

We—he—he was tired, kind of like us. We offered him water, took the handcuffs off him, we’re getting water, talking, **we’re basically, you know, commending**

² Jackson v. Denno, 378 U.S. 368 (1964).

him on how long he's lasted in the woods and how well he did. . . . we had already had a conversation with him about how long he'd lasted in the woods, what kind of fitness level he was at. You know, he made—we made the statement that these woods are nasty, man. And I think he made statements to the extent that there were snakes everywhere, I seen snakes everywhere, and then that the—the offhand comment about the gun not being real or whatever it was came up.

R. 64, l. 20 – 65, l. 20 (emphasis added). Agent Steppe also told appellant during this casual conversation that appellant was “in the top five of the guys I’ve ever run like that before.” R. 49, ll. 21 – 23. Appellant responded that he used to be a boxer. R. 49, ll. 23 – 25. Appellant then supposedly volunteered that “it wasn’t a real gun.” R. 50, ll. 4 – 11. Agent Croft admitted that he previously asked him his age and how he stayed in shape. R. 18, ll. 1 – 11. Tr. 20, ll. 5 – 14. Agent Croft remembered appellant saying “it was the stupidest thing he’d ever done in his life.” R. 20, ll. 5 – 14.

Appellant argued his statements were inadmissible because of the officers’ failure to administer Miranda warnings. R. 70, l. 19 – 71, l. 7. The trial judge agreed no dispute existed that appellant was in custody and no Miranda warnings were given. R. 71, ll. 9 – 11. R. 76, ll. 9 – 11. The State’s argument and the trial judge’s questioning centered on whether appellant’s statements were the product of interrogation. R. 70, l. 17 – 97, l. 4.

The trial judge then questioned the solicitors about whether asking appellant how he stayed in shape and commenting about how hard he was to track was interrogation designed to elicit admissions about flight, which is evidence of guilt. R. 86, ll. 19 – 24. The State admitted it intended to argue flight was evidence of appellant’s guilt. R. 87, ll. 8 – 25. The solicitor then argued, “But I just don’t feel like it reaches that level.” R. 87, ll. 17 – 25.

The solicitor characterized the SLED agent’s questions about appellant’s stamina during the three-day chase in the woods as “giving him props” and claimed not to know what kind of

response such questions would elicit. R. 91, ll. 1 – 121. Appellant argued that the questions about flight led to the incriminating comments about the gun and the “stupidest thing,” and was therefore interrogation. R. 94, l. 19 – 97, l. 4. The trial judge then ruled the statements were admissible because they were not made in response to interrogation. R. 97, ll. 5 – 19. Appellant renewed his objections with contemporaneous objections when the State introduced the statements before the jury. R. 509, ll. 17 – 21. R. 513, ll. 8 – 17. R. 560, l. 22 – 561, l. 3. Appellant also filed a motion for new trial and again argued the suppression issue, which was denied. R. 737 – 743. R. 686 – 735.

The trial judge erred in admitting appellant’s statements because they were the product of custodial interrogation in violation of Miranda. U.S. Const. amends. V, VI. No dispute existed that appellant was in custody; therefore Miranda warnings were required. Miranda, 384 U.S. at 478-79. As the trial judge recognized, flight is evidence of guilt. State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 208-09, 631 S.E.2d 262, 266 (2006). “The critical factor to the admissibility of evidence of flight is whether the totality of the evidence creates an inference that the defendant had knowledge that he was being sought by the authorities.” Id. “It is sufficient that circumstances justify an inference that the defendant’s actions were motivated as a result of his belief that police officers were aware of his wrongdoing and were seeking him for that purpose.” Id. “Flight or evasion of arrest is a circumstance to go to the jury.” Id.

In this case, the State’s theory was that appellant’s flight began immediately after the robbery when the Olar police chief gave chase and ended three days later after continuously using bloodhounds and a helicopter. In its closing argument, the State directly linked appellant’s statements to his flight:

“It wasn’t even a real gun.” I don’t know if Agent Croft even knew that it was a BB gun at that time. “It was the stupidest thing I’d ever done.” Well, that could

mean a lot of things. “Big rattlesnakes.” Y’all have been chasing me a while. That’s what I would think if somebody had talked about the rattlesnakes; **it’s acknowledgement he’s been chased for a while. Why? Why?**

The reason why is simple: **He’s being chased because he’s running; he’s running because he’s guilty and he knows it.** He isn’t running out there in the woods so he can see if he can sneak in between the first guy in the chase team and the second guy in the chase team and miss the dog.

R. 640, ll. 6 – 19 (emphasis added). These statements to the jury make the solicitor’s earlier argument during the Denno hearing that the police were not interested in eliciting any incriminating information ring hollow.

In State v. Medley, this Court brushed aside the State’s argument that police officers’ questions were not designed to elicit incriminating information. State v. Medley, 417 S.C. 18, 787 S.E.2d 847 (Ct. App. 2016). “Interrogation” is defined as including “words or actions on the part of police (other than those normally attendant to arrest and custody) that the police should know are reasonably likely to elicit an incriminating response.” Id. at 25, 787 S.E.2d at 851, quoting State v. Kennedy, 325 S.C. 295, 303, 479 S.E.2d 838, 842 (Ct. App. 1996). This Court recognized that interrogations are not only formal events that take place at police stations, but frequently happen immediately after taking a suspect into custody. Id. at 26-27, 787 S.E.2d at 852.

In Rhode Island v. Innis, the United States Supreme Court stated that Miranda should not be interpreted narrowly. Rhode Island v. Innis, 446 U.S. 291, 299 (1980). The Court stated that an “interrogation environment” that subjugated the suspect’s will and undermined the Fifth Amendment privilege was its concern. Id. The Court stated that “express questioning” was not required to trigger Miranda and police actions that contrive situations leading to incriminating statements qualify. Id.