STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BAMBERG COUNTY

Court of General Sessions

The Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2016-002046

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

HOMER ARTHUR JAMES,

Appellant.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

V. HENRY GUNTER, JR.
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

J. STROM THURMOND, JR.
Solicitor, Second Judicial Circuit

Post Office Drawer 3368
Aiken, SC 29802
(803) 642-1557

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED
FEB 02 2018
SC Court of Appeals

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

ARGUMENT

The trial judge properly admitted Appellant's incriminating statements regarding his flight and culpability because Appellant was not subjected to custodial interrogation.

Appellant asserts the trial judge erred in admitting his highly incriminating statements because Appellant was not informed of his Miranda rights before the statements were made. Specifically, Appellant maintains that his statement was the product of interrogation rather than casual conversation with law enforcement. To the contrary, Appellant was not "interrogated" within the meaning of Miranda, as police officers merely engaged Appellant in casual conversation about his physical condition and were not acting in an investigatory capacity and seeking information about the crime. Appellant's voluntary statements implicating himself in the crime were not responsive to the collateral statements by law enforcement about his age and physical condition. As there was no interrogation, the officers were not required to advise Appellant of his Miranda rights.

In criminal cases, appellate courts sit to review errors of law only. State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006). The reviewing court is bound by the trial court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous. State v. Quattlebaum, 338 S.C. 441, 452, 527 S.E.2d 105, 111 (2000). The appellate court does not re-evaluate the facts based on its own view of the preponderance of the evidence, but instead, simply determines whether the trial judge's ruling is supported by any evidence. State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 6, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001).

The admission or exclusion of evidence rests on the sound discretion of the trial judge and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion. State v. Gaster, 349 S.C. 545, 557, 564 S.E.2d 87, 93 (2002). "An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court

either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” State v. McDonald, 343 S.C. 319, 325, 540 S.E.2d 464, 467 (2000). “A trial judge has considerable latitude in ruling on the admissibility of evidence and his rulings will not be disturbed absent a showing of probable prejudice.” State v. Kelley, 319 S.C. 173, 176, 460 S.E.2d 368, 370 (1995); see also State v. Navy, 386 S.C. 294, 301, 688 S.E.2d 838, 841 (2010) (stating appellate courts must uphold the trial court’s findings regarding whether a defendant was in custody when statements were made if the trial judge’s ruling is supported by the record).

Under Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 444 (1966), prior to custodial interrogation, a suspect must be warned he has a right to remain silent, any of his statements may be used against him, and he has a right to an attorney. However, these requirements only apply to situations involving custodial interrogation and were not intended to interfere with the traditional function of law enforcement officers in investigating crimes. Id. at 477. The United States Supreme Court instructed:

Such investigations may include inquiry of **persons not under restraint**. General on-the-scene questioning as to facts surrounding a crime or other general questioning of citizens in the fact-finding process is not affected by our holding. It is an act of responsible citizenship for individuals to give whatever information they may have to aid in law enforcement. In such situations the compelling atmosphere inherent in the process of in-custody interrogations is not necessarily present.

Id. at 477-78 (emphasis added).

“Miranda warnings are required for official interrogations only when a suspect ‘has been taken into custody or otherwise deprived of his freedom of action in any significant way.’ “ State v. Easler, 327 S.C. 121, 127, 489 S.E.2d 617, 621 (1997) (quoting Miranda, 384 U.S. at 444). Thus, custodial interrogations are made up of two key components – custody and interrogation. State v. Whitner, 380 S.C. 513, 518, 670 S.E.2d 655, 658 (Ct. App. 2008).

“Interrogation can be either express questioning or its functional equivalent and includes words or actions on the part of the police (other than those normally attendant to arrest and custody) the police should know are reasonably likely to elicit an incriminating response.” Id.; see Rhode Island v. Innis, 446 U.S. 291, 301 (1980) (“[T]he term ‘interrogation’ under Miranda refers not only to express questioning, but also to any words or actions on the part of the police . . . that the police should know are reasonably likely to elicit an incriminating response.”). The requirement for Miranda warnings does not apply to voluntary statements which are not the product of interrogation. State v. Sprouse, 325 S.C. 275, 282, 478 S.E.2d 871, 875 (Ct. App. 1996). “Volunteered statements of any kind are not barred by the Fifth Amendment[.]” Miranda, 384 U.S. at 478.

In Innis, the United States Supreme Court clarified the meaning of “interrogation” under the standards promulgated in Miranda, holding:

We conclude that the Miranda safeguards come into play whenever a person in custody is subjected to either express questioning or its functional equivalent. That is to say, the term “interrogation” under Miranda refers not only to express questioning, but also to any words or actions on the part of the police (other than those normally attendant to arrest and custody) that the police should know are reasonably likely to elicit an incriminating response from the suspect.... A practice that the police should know is reasonably likely to evoke an incriminating response from a suspect thus amounts to interrogation. But, since the police surely cannot be held accountable for the unforeseeable results of their words or actions, the definition of interrogation can extend only to words or actions on the part of police officers that they should have known were reasonably likely to elicit an incriminating response.

Innis, 446 U.S. at 300-302. Examining the facts of the case before them, the Innis Court found:

The case thus boils down to whether, in the context of a brief conversation, the officers should have known that the respondent would suddenly be moved to make a self-incriminating response. Given the fact that the entire conversation appears to have consisted of no more than a few off hand remarks, we cannot say that the officers should have known that it was reasonably likely that Innis would so respond. This is not a case where the police carried on a lengthy harangue in the presence of the suspect. Nor does the record support the respondent's contention that, under the circumstances, the officers' comments were particularly

“evocative.” It is our view, therefore, that the respondent was not subjected by the police to words or actions that the police should have known were reasonably likely to elicit an incriminating response from him.

Id. at 303.

Similarly to Innis, the few off-hand remarks made by law enforcement officers did not constitute interrogation, as the comments were not of a nature likely to induce an incriminating response. After Appellant was able to evade law enforcement for three days, Agent Croft and Lieutenant Steppe were impressed with his endurance, and simply let him know as much. Law enforcement’s conversation with Appellant amounted to casual conversation, and the officers expressly noted they were not acting in an investigatory capacity and were not seeking details about the crime. While Agent Croft asked Appellant his age, that question was tied to his commentary on Appellant’s physical conditioning. Even if Agent Croft’s question was asked in an investigatory capacity, rather than casual conversation, a question about a suspect’s age constitutes a part of the routine investigatory process and would not require Miranda warnings. See Miranda, 384 U.S. at 477-478 (“General on-the-scene questioning as to facts surrounding a crime or other general questioning of citizens in the fact-finding process is not affected by our holding.”). While Appellant avers law enforcement was asking about his flight, which was directly relevant to his guilt, this is simply too strained of a causal link between the casual statements by law enforcement and Appellant’s subsequent confession. It strains credulity to suggest Lieutenant Steppe and Agent Croft should have known Appellant would render incriminating statements about his role in the crime after they offered a simple compliment of his physical conditioning after pursuing him for several days.

Appellant’s comparisons of the current case to State v. Medley, 417 S.C. 18, 787 S.E.2d 847 (Ct. App. 2016), and State v. Easler, 327 S.C. 121, 489 S.E.2d 617 (1997), are inapposite. In

Medley, the defendant engaged in a high-speed chase with police officers after he ran a stop sign and sped away from a traffic checkpoint. 417 S.C. at 22, 787 S.E.2d at 849. The chase ended in the defendant's parents' yard when the defendant was apprehended and "put on the ground." Id. A police officer asked the defendant whether he had a driver's license and how much he had been drinking, to which the defendant responded he did not have a license and "too much." Id. The Court of Appeals concluded the question asked by law enforcement regarding how much the defendant had to drink was reasonably likely to elicit an incriminating response, thus he was subject to custodial interrogation and Miranda warnings were required. In Easler, law enforcement officers were traveling the scene of an automobile accident and were advised an individual had left the scene of the accident. 327 S.C. at 125-26, 489 S.E.2d 620. While en route, officers saw an individual matching the description at a convenience store. Id. Officers asked Easler, the individual they spotted, whether he had been in an accident, to which he replied he had and pointed towards where the accident occurred. Id. Officers also asked Easler for his identification and why he had left the scene of the accident. Id. After police officers observed a package in Easler's possession containing beer and cigarettes, an officer asked him when he had his last drink. Id. Easler replied he had a beer just prior to the accident and showed officers a wet spot on his pants where beer spilled onto his pants during the crash. Id. The South Carolina Supreme Court found, "Here, once police determined Easler had in fact been involved in the accident, they continued to question him as to why he had left the accident and when he last had a beer. Certainly, police knew these questions were likely to elicit incriminating responses. This was clearly interrogation." Id. at 127, 621.

The interaction between Appellant and law enforcement is vastly different than the situations in Medley and Easler. The officers in both Medley and Easler asked specific questions

in an investigatory capacity about the underlying crime. Distinguishably, Agent Croft and Lieutenant Steppe asked Appellant no such questions, instead simply making off-handed remarks about Appellant's physical condition and his age. The conversation between Appellant and law enforcement did not pertain whatsoever to the crime and was not likely to elicit any incriminating response. If Lieutenant Steppe and Agent Croft had asked Appellant why he was running or "whether he thought he could get away with it," certainly that would implicate Miranda. However the innocuous conversation between Appellant and law enforcement while they waited for transportation did not necessitate the giving of Miranda warnings. Appellant's statements regarding the gun not being real and the "stupidest thing he'd ever done" were not responsive to anything mentioned by law enforcement; therefore the officers could not have foreseen such comments being made.

Finally, any error in the admission of Appellant's inculpatory statements is harmless in light of the overwhelming evidence of his guilt presented at trial. Error is harmless when it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial. State v. Reeves, 301 S.C. 191, 194, 391 S.E.2d 241, 243 (1990). "The key factor for determining whether a trial error constitutes reversible error is whether it appears beyond a reasonable doubt that the error complained of did not contribute to the verdict obtained." State v. Tapp, 398 S.C. 376, 389, 728 S.E.2d 468, 475 (2012) (citations and internal quotations are omitted). In addition to Appellant's statements admitting he was involved in the robbery, the State presented significant evidence of his guilt, thus rendering any error insubstantial. The suspect vehicle in the robbery was located almost immediately after the robbery and a chase ensued. After the vehicle crashed at the end of the chase, investigators found dye-stained cash from the robbery, a gun matching the description of the gun used in the robbery, various items on which Appellant's DNA was found, and South

Carolina identification cards bearing the names of Appellant, Leon James, and Lewis Garvin. Over the next three days, Appellant, Leon James, and Garvin led law enforcement on a chase around the surrounding area in an attempt to evade capture. Appellant's flight is significant because evidence of flight and other guilty conduct is admissible in South Carolina because a defendant's act of making false or conflicting statements or attempting to flee after committing a crime supports an inference of guilty knowledge and intent on the part of the defendant.² State v. Thompson, 278 S.C. 1, 10, 292 S.E.2d 581, 587 (1982), overruled on other grounds by State v. Torrence, 305 S.C. 45, 406 S.E.2d 315 (1991). Such an inference is appropriate because "it is not to be supposed that one who is innocent and conscious of that fact would flee." State v. Crawford, 362 S.C. 627, 635, 608 S.E.2d 886, 890 (Ct. App. 2005); see also State v. Freely, 105 S.C. 243, 250, 89 S.E. 643, 645 (1916) ("The flight of one charged with crime has always been held to be some evidence tending to prove guilt. Solomon wrote as a proverb the 'wicked flee when no man pursueth;' and Shakespeare made guilty Hamlet to soliloquize that 'conscience does make cowards of us all.' "). All of this evidence leads to the obvious conclusion that Appellant, along with Leon James and Garvin, robbed the Enterprise Bank in Denmark before leading law enforcement on a wild chase through that part of Bamberg County. Appellant's conviction and sentence should be affirmed.

² Interestingly, the record also indicates the Nike Air Max shoes Appellant was wearing when he was arrested looked identical to the shoes worn by one of the men in the robbery. See Tr. pp. 216, 369-70, 391, 547-48, 588-89.

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgment and conviction of the lower court be affirmed.